FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/2/2019 10:56 AM SUPREME COURT NO. 96705-9 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 76823-9-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

A.S.

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, respondent in the Court of Appeals, petitions the Court for review of a decision of the Court of Appeals filed in State v. A.S., no. 76823-9-I on December 3, 2018.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed a published opinion which reversed the defendant's juvenile court adjudication for possession of drug paraphernalia and possession of marijuana. The opinion was filed on December 3, 2018. A copy of the decision is attached to this petition as Appendix A.

III. <u>ISSUE</u>

A school administrator was warned by the parent of a student that a particular non-student planned to come to campus because she had a problem with one of the students enrolled in the school. The campus is a closed-campus and visitors must check in before proceeding on campus. The school administrator saw the non-student identified by the parent on campus during school hours. There was an odor of marijuana coming from her and she appeared under the influence of drugs. Could the school administrator search the non-student's bag under the "school search" exception to the warrant requirement?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2014 the principal of Medowdale Middle School received information from the parent of a student that 14-year-old A.S. had a problem with one of the students enrolled in that school and that A.S. intended to come on campus that day. A.S. was not a student of Medowdale Middle School, but had been a student at another middle school in the same district. Vice Principal Webster viewed A.S.'s photo in the district's record system in order to be able to identify her should she appear on campus. About 2:00 p.m., while school was still in session, Webster saw A.S. walk by the window of the principal's office. 1 RP 13-15, 17, 23.

Medowdale Middle School has a closed campus. It has 780 students between the ages of 12 and 14. Signs are posted around the school directing visitors to sign in at the main office before proceeding on campus. Visitors who check in are issued a visitor's badge. If a visitor appears on campus without a badge a school official contacts that person and inquires as to their business on campus. If the visitor has no legitimate purpose for being on campus they are generally asked to leave. 1 RP 5-7, 10; Ex. 2.

The campus is also a drug, alcohol, tobacco, and firearm free zone. There are signs posted around the school warning that

no one may possess those items while on school property. 1 RP 11-12; Ex. 3, 4.

When Webster saw A.S. she had not signed in at the main office. Webster contacted A.S. and asked her to come to the office. Although A.S. agreed to go to the office, she refused to answer questions about what her business was on campus, or about the report school authorities had received that she was there to confront an enrolled student. Since A.S. refused to answer questions Ms. Kinsely, the principal, decided to call the police. 1 RP 15-18, 27-28.

While A.S. was in the principal's office with the door closed, Ms. Kinsley noted that A.S. appeared to be under the influence of drugs. Webster, who was familiar with the odor of marijuana, smelled that odor coming from A.S. Webster then searched A.S.'s bag that she had been carrying when she came into the office. During the search he found marijuana. 1 RP 18-19, 25-26.

A.S. moved to suppress the evidence pre-trial. Based on the foregoing facts the trial court denied the motion to suppress. The court concluded that A.S. was trespassing on school grounds. The odor of marijuana created an exigent circumstance and reasonable grounds to justify the search under the school search exception to

the warrant requirement. 1 CP 33-35. A.S. was later convicted at a stipulated bench trial. 1 CP 36-37.

A.S. argued that the school search exception did not apply to her since she was not an enrolled student at Meadowdale Middle School. Alternatively she argued that the requirements of the exception were not present. The Court of Appeals declined to consider the first issue. Instead it found the search was not justified under the school search exception. Slip Op. at 5-14. In dicta the Court suggested that the school search exception could only apply to non-students who presented a credible threat of physical harm to the student body and when the scope of the search is limited to that threat. Slip Op. at 14.

V. ARGUMENT

This Court will accept a petition for review only in the circumstances set out in RAP 13.4(b). The State asks the Court to take review because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). It also involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS.

Absent an exception, a warrantless search is per se unreasonable under both the Fourth Amendment and Washington Constitution Art. 1, §7. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 128 Wn.2d 431, 446-47, 909 P.2d 293 (1996). One recognized exception applies to searches conducted by school officials on property held by students. <u>State v. McKinnon</u>, 88 Wn.2d 75, 558 P.2d 781 (1977); <u>State v. Meneese</u>, 174 Wn.2d 937, 943, 282 P.3d 83 (2012); <u>New</u> Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 324, 342, 105 S.Ct. 733, 83 L.Ed.2d 720 (1985).

Under this exception school officials may search students if under all the circumstances the search is reasonable. A search is reasonable if (1) it was justified at its inception and (2) it is reasonably related in scope to the circumstances that justified the interference in the first place. <u>State v. Slattery</u>, 56 Wn. App. 820, 823-24, 787 P.2d 932 (1990). A search is justified if the school official has reasonable suspicion to believe a student has violated or is violating either the law or the rules of the school. <u>T.L.O.</u>, 469 U.S. at 342. The reasonable suspicion standard satisfies both the Fourth Amendment and Art. 1, § 7. <u>Meneese</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 943. This Court addressed the factors to be considered when determining whether a search was reasonable in <u>McKinnon</u>, 88 Wn.2d at 81. The factors include the child's age, history, and school record, the prevalence and seriousness of the problem in the school to which the search was directed, the exigency to make the search without delay, and the probative value and reliability of the information used as a justification for the search. <u>Id</u>.

Not all factors are necessary to find the search was justified. <u>State v. Brooks</u>, 43 Wn. App. 560, 568, 718 P.2d 837 (1986). Here the Court of Appeals discussed and rejected each factor. To the extent that its decision indicates that all of the factors must be met, it conflicts with a decision of the Court of Appeals.

The decision also conflicts with a decision of the Court of Appeals because it misconstrues the nature of the exigency necessary to justify the search. The court found no exigency because no car was involved in the incident, and A.S. was sitting in the office and gave no indication that she planned on leaving. Slip Op. at 6, 8. But exigent circumstances under the school search exception require showing only that there is a threat to the order and discipline of the school. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 158 Wn. App. 49, 56, 240 P.3d 1175 (2010). While A.S. may not have presented the

same threat to the school when she was seated in the principal's office, she did present a threat to the order and discipline before she was escorted there. Since the school officials could not restrain her there, she could have left the office, thereby presenting the same threat she presented before she entered the office. Her choice not to exercise her prerogative and leave is immaterial to the threat that she presented to the school, particularly in light of the report that she was there to confront another student, she appeared high, and she smelled like marijuana.

The Court's decision also conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals because the information the school officials had was sufficient to reasonably suspect that she was violating a school rule or law. The Court focused on evidence that Webster had no information about A.S.'s prior conduct that would lead him to believe that A.S. used or possessed marijuana, or that a search of her bag would reveal marijuana. Slip Op. at 8. It distinguished its earlier decision in <u>Marcum</u> on the basis that the defendant was detained on the basis of information from a reliable informant that the defendant would be carrying one-quarter pound of marijuana in his car. <u>State v. Marcum</u>, 149 Wn. App. 894, 205 P.3d 969 (2009). Slip Op. at 15.

But the reliability of the information does not have to come from past experience or from a reliable informant. In <u>Marcum</u> the informant's tip only provided reasonable suspicion to stop the car. <u>Marcum</u>, 149 Wn. App. at 905. The probable cause to believe the defendant possessed marijuana was based on the detective sensing an odor of marijuana which could have only come from the defendant's vehicle. <u>Id</u>. at 911-12.

The Court completely disregarded the information that Webster, who was familiar with the odor of marijuana, smelled marijuana coming from A.S. in closed quarters. It also failed to consider the opinion of the principal that A.S. appeared high. If the odor of marijuana is sufficient to support a finding of probable cause, then certainly under the circumstances the odor plus information A.S. had been using an intoxicating substance is sufficient to support a reasonable suspicion necessary for the school search exception.

The Court's decision also conflicts with <u>Marcum</u> and <u>T.L.O.</u> to the extent that it found there was insufficient evidence of nexus to justify searching A.S.'s bag. The source of the information does not control the question of nexus. Rather it is the reasonableness of

the likelihood that evidence of the suspected violation will be found in the place to be searched.

In <u>Marcum</u>, the odor coming from the truck was sufficient to conclude that there was marijuana in the truck. <u>Marcum</u>, 149 Wn. App. at 912. In <u>T.L.O.</u> the information justifying the belief that T.L.O. had violated the law or a school rule by possessing cigarettes was based on a report she had been seen smoking in the bathroom. The Supreme Court noted that students often carried personal items to school in purses or wallets. <u>T.L.O.</u>, 469 U.S. at 339 It concluded that a report that T.L.O. was smoking led to the reasonable conclusion that if T.L.O. had cigarettes, the obvious place they would be kept was in her purse. That obvious connection provided the necessary nexus to justify searching her purse. The possibility that she did not have cigarettes in her purse did not undermine the reasonableness of the search. <u>Id</u>. at 346.

The Court of Appeals conclusion regarding nexus was based on that court's decision in <u>State v. B.A.S.</u>, 103 Wn. App. 549, 13 P.3d 244 (2000). The comparison to <u>B.A.S.</u> is not apt. There the student was suspected of violating a school rule prohibiting students from being in a parking lot without permission. A school attendance officer confronted B.A.S. and searched his pockets,

finding controlled substances. <u>Id</u>. at 552. The search was invalid because there was no reasonable basis for concluding the search would confirm the officer's suspicion that he violated the attendance rule or some other school rule. <u>Id</u>. at 554.

Here there was a reason to suspect that a search of A.S.'s bag would reveal evidence she was violating the law; either that she possessed marijuana or that she had consumed marijuana. Like T.L.O., if A.S. had marijuana or a marijuana pipe, it is reasonable to believe that she kept those items in her bag, where she likely kept her other personal effects.

The Court of Appeals decision ignores relevant evidence and misconstrues the significance of other evidence justifying the search. The State asks the Court to take review to consider the case in light of authority that conflicts with the Court of Appeal's decision.

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT.

The <u>McKinnon</u> factors were adopted from two out-of-state cases; <u>Doe v. State</u>, 540 P.2d 827 (N.M. 1975) and <u>People v. D.</u>, 315 N.E.2d 483 (N.Y. 1974). <u>McKinnon</u>, 88 Wn.2d at 81. This Court did not articulate whether that was an exclusive list, or whether

other factors may bear on the reasonableness of the search. However the decisions in both the New York and New Mexico cases indicated the list was not exclusive. Each case stated that the factors were "among [those] to be considered in determining the sufficiency of cause to search a student." <u>People v. D</u>. 315 N.E.2d at 470. <u>Doe</u>, 540 P.2d at 832.

The Court of Appeals treated the <u>McKinnon</u> factors as an exclusive list of factors that must be satisfied before finding the search reasonable. Whether other circumstances bear on the reasonableness of a school search presents an issue of substantial public interest this Court should decide. The justification for the school search exception is based on the need of teachers and administrators to have the freedom to maintain security and order in schools. <u>T.L.O.</u> 469 U.S. at 340-41. As this case demonstrates there may be circumstances that threaten the security and order of the school which do not neatly fit within any of the <u>McKinnon</u> factors.

A.S. was not an enrolled student in Meadowdale Middle School. She appeared on campus during school hours, at a time when she herself should have been in some form of school. School officials had been forewarned that she would come to campus

because she had a problem with a student enrolled at the school. A.S. refused to state her business on campus. She gave the school administrators no legitimate explanation for being out of school, and present on their campus. While the Court of Appeals speculated that she simply did not have time to get a visitor's badge, the record does not reflect that A.S. was willing to even proffer that excuse for being present without permission.

Under these circumstances the administrators would have little knowledge of A.S.'s history and school record. But her presence presented no less of a threat to the order and discipline of the school. She appeared intoxicated. The odor of marijuana suggested that she had recently consumed that drug. With little other A.S.'s information. presence and behavior qave administrators an even greater reason to believe the information that she was there to create a problem with another student. Cf. State v. Gluck, 83 Wn.2d 424, 426, 518 P.2d 703 (1974) (Officers had a well-founded suspicion to stop two people for a brief inquiry when the people were in an unusual place at an unusual time of day). And without knowing the exact nature of the problem, the odor and A.S.'s intoxicated appearance could relate to the conflict with the other student (such as a conflict over a drug sale.)

In addition, no court in this state has addressed whether the exception can apply to non-enrolled students. Other states have addressed that exception under circumstances in which there was a threat of physical violence. United States v. Aguilera, 287 F.Supp.2d 1204, 1210 (E.D. California 2003) (exception applied to non-student visitor upon reasonable suspicion he was armed); In re D.D., 554 S.E.2d 346 (N.C. 2001). (exception applied to nonstudent who was reported to be part of a group preparing to fight students, and found in possession of a knife). While the Court of Appeals refused to address the application of the school search exception to a non-student, it suggested that to the extent it did apply to non-students, it was limited to threats of physical harm. Slip Op. at 14. The North Carolina Court considering the question did not reach this conclusion. Rather it reasoned that the justification for the exception, the need to maintain order and security in the unique school setting, applied equally to nonstudents who appeared on campus and presented a threat to the student body. D.D., 554 S.E.2d at 351-52.

The statement limiting the exception to incidents of physical harm is dicta, since it was unnecessary to the Court's decision. <u>State v. Scott</u>, 190 Wn.2d 586, 599, 416 P.3d 1182 (2018). It is

therefore not binding authority. <u>State v. Burch</u>, 197 Wn. App. 382, 403, 398 P.3d 685 (2016). But the dicta may form the foundation for that argument in future cases. More immediately it may cause school districts to refrain from adequately protecting the security and order of schools and students when faced with a less violent, but still disruptive threat. Thus it raises an issue of significant public interest that this Court should address.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the State asks the Court to grant review of the decision of the Court of Appeals. Respectfully submitted on December 29, 2018.

> ADAM CORNELL Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney