FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/1/2019 11:26 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96705-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

A.S.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable George N. Bowden, Judge

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID B. KOCH
Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent A.S., the appellant below, asks this Court to deny the State's Petition for Review.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in State v. A.S., ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 430 P.3d 703 (2018).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Fourteen-year-old A.S. arrived at Meadowdale Middle School looking for a student with whom she had a dispute. RP 15; CP 46. A.S. was not herself a student at the school. RP 15. Assistant Principal Joseph Webster, who had notice A.S. might be coming, spotted her just outside the school office and asked her to come inside. RP 5, 15. A.S. complied. RP 24.

A.S. was directed to the principal's office and again complied. RP 16. When she would not answer questions concerning her purpose on campus, police were called. RP 16, 25. Rather than wait for police to handle the matter, however – and based on the odor of marijuana – Webster searched A.S.'s backpack without her permission or a warrant, finding marijuana and associated paraphernalia. RP 17-18, 25-26.

Assuming the “school search exception” to the warrant requirement applies to searches of non-students like A.S., the Court of Appeals found the requirements for that exception unmet. A.S., 430 P.3d at 706-710. The Court suppressed the evidence and reversed A.S.’s possession convictions. Id. at 704-705.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision is correct, based on the facts and law, and this case does not meet any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. There Is No Conflict With Other Decisions.

Under the “school search exception” to the warrant requirement, school officials may search students “if, under all of the circumstances, the official has reasonable suspicion.” State v. McNeese, 174 Wn.2d 937, 943, 282 P.3d 83 (2012). Specifically, “[a] school teacher or administrator may legally search a student without a warrant if she or he has ‘reasonable grounds for suspecting that the search will turn up evidence that the student has violated or is violating either the law or the rules of the school.’” State v. E.K.P., 162 Wn. App. 675, 678, 255 P.3d 870 (2011) (quoting New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 341-342, 105 S. Ct. 733, 83 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1985)).

In State v. McKinnon, 88 Wn.2d 75, 81, 558 P.2d 781 (1977), this Court identified several relevant considerations in assessing reasonableness of a search under this exception (child's age, history, school record, prevalence and seriousness of the problem in the school to which search was directed, exigency warranting immediate action, and probative value/reliability of information used to justify search). In A.W.'s case, the Court of Appeals examined these very considerations before concluding the search of her backpack was unconstitutional. See A.W., 430 P.3d at 706.

The State argues the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior precedent in several ways.

First, the State notes that not all factors listed in McKinnon need support a warrantless search for it to be justified under the exception. Petition, at 6 (citing State v. Brooks, 43 Wn. App. 560, 568, 718 P.2d 287 (1986)). The State then identifies a potential conflict:

Here, the Court of Appeals discussed and rejected each factor. To the extent that its decision indicates that all of the factors must be met, it conflicts with a decision of the Court of Appeals.

Petition, at 6. But there is no conflict. Citing Brooks, the Court of Appeals expressly noted that “all of the foregoing factors need not be found” A.S., 430 P.3d at 706.

Second, citing State v. Brown, 158 Wn. App. 49, 56, 240 P.3d 1175 (2010), the State argues the decision in A.S. “misconstrues the nature of the exigency necessary to justify the search” and notes the proper showing is merely a threat to the order and discipline of the school. Petition, at 6. While the State concedes that A.S. posed no threat while sitting calmly in the principal’s office and simply waiting for the arrival of police, it argues (as it did below) that A.S. *could have* chosen to leave the office, and the risk she might do so was sufficient to justify an immediate search of her backpack. Petition, at 6-7.

But the Court of Appeals fully and properly understood the nature of the exigency necessary to justify the search, even discussing at length (and distinguishing) the decision in Brown. A.S., 430 P.3d at 707-708. The Court of Appeals also properly rejected the State’s argument that, because of a theoretical possibility A.S. could have walked out of the office and back onto campus, she posed a sufficient threat warranting an immediate search. The Court found that where, in fact, A.S. simply did as she

was told and remained in the office until police arrived, such a purely hypothetical threat did not justify the warrantless search. A.S., 430 P.3d at 707. This is not a conflict, either.

Third, the State argues the evidence was sufficient for school officials to reasonably suspect a violation of school rules or the law, there was reasonable cause to search A.S.'s backpack, and the Court of Appeals' contrary conclusion conflicts with the outcome in State v. Marcum, 149 Wn. App. 894, 205 P.3d 969 (2009). Petition, at 7-10. This is essentially just an argument that the Court of Appeals is wrong on the merits.

One factual assertion underpinning this argument, in particular, warrants discussion. The State's petition is filled with references to an assertion attributed to school principal Jennifer Kniseley that A.S. appeared under the influence while in Kniseley's office. See Petition, at 1 ("she appeared under the influence of drugs"); at 3 ("Ms. [Kniseley] noted that A.S. appeared to be under the influence of drugs."); at 7 ("she appeared high"); at 8 ("A.S. appeared high"); at 12 ("She appeared intoxicated."); at 12 ("A.S.'s intoxicated appearance."). The State faults the Court of Appeals for failing to consider this "fact" when determining whether a

warrantless search of the backpack was authorized while waiting for police. See Petition, at 8.

The Court of Appeals did not consider this information because Kniseley did not testify at the CrR 3.6 hearing, and Judge Bowden did not find that it happened. The only witness at the CrR 3.6 hearing was Assistant Principal Webster. See RP 4. And while Webster did mention that Kniseley told him A.S. appeared to be under the influence, RP 17, 26, Webster did not testify to a similar observation of A.S. His only testimony was that he smelled marijuana while in the office with her. RP 17-18, 25. Moreover, when defense counsel objected on hearsay grounds to Webster sharing what Kniseley had said to him, the objection was sustained. RP 17. Ultimately, and critically, the trial judge did not make a finding that A.S. appeared to be under the influence. See RP 34-35; CP 33-35. “In the absence of a finding on a factual issue we must indulge the presumption that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain their burden of proof on this issue.” State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) (citing cases). This “fact” was properly ignored by the Court of Appeals.¹

¹ The absence of a finding on this point was highlighted for the Court of Appeals in A.S.’s opening brief, AOB, at 9 n.2, and again at oral argument. Oral Argument, 9/20/18, at 20:37 – 20:51 (available on Court website).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the mere smell of marijuana was insufficient to justify a warrantless search of A.S.'s backpack while A.S. and school administrators waited for police to arrive. The Court of Appeals also expressly distinguished Marcum, a case that did not involve a school search. Rather, in Marcum, police conducted a warrantless vehicle search based on a reliable informant's tip that the defendant possessed a substantial quantity of marijuana and after officers had confirmation of that tip based (among other factors) on the strong odor of marijuana coming from the defendant's vehicle. A.S., 430 P.3d at 710. There is no conflict with Marcum, either.

2. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

In State v McKinnon, this Court recognized that maintaining discipline in schools sometimes "requires immediate action and cannot await the procurement of a search warrant based on probable cause." McKinnon, 88 Wn.2d at 81. As previously discussed, such a search does not offend constitutional protections "if the school official has reasonable grounds to believe the search is necessary in the aid of maintaining school discipline and order." Id.

The State identifies as a potential issue of substantial public interest whether the school search exception should be expanded to include situations like the one here, “which do not neatly fit within any of the McKinnon factors.” Petition, at 11. But the State has not shown why such an expansion would be necessary or permitted. The idea behind the exception is that immediate action is necessary. A.S. waited calmly in the office, police had been called, and officers were on their way. It is difficult to conjure a constitutional expansion of the exception to include these circumstances. There is no issue of substantial public interest.

The State also argues this Court should determine whether the school search exception applies to non-students, an issue the Court of Appeals expressly declined to decide. Petition, at 13. On this subject, the State expresses fear that, because the Court of Appeals mentioned out-of-state cases expanding the school search exception to non-students who presented a credible threat of physical harm to students, school administrators may now mistakenly refrain from conducting searches of non-students when faced with less violent threats. Petition, at 13-14.

There is no need to determine in this case whether the exception applies to non-students because, even assuming it does,

as the Court of Appeals correctly found, its requirements clearly were unmet. Moreover, school administrators will not be confused by the Court of Appeals decision. The Court of Appeals explained that it discussed out-of-state authority only because the parties had done so. A.S., 430 P.3d at 709-710. And the Court made clear that it was not deciding the applicability of the exception to non-students. Id. at 706. One would have to misread the opinion to conclude otherwise.

Someday it may be necessary to explore the scope of the exception for non-students on campus. But since the evidence failed to establish the student search exception even when treating A.S. as a Meadowdale student, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized this is not the case in which to do so.